THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2013-CP-07-01341

Appeal Case No. 2017-001736

RECEIVED

MAY 23 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Road, LLC and Pinckney Point, LLC

of whom Road, LLC is theAppellant,

v.

Beaufort County, a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina,.....
.....Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

May 21, 2018

G. Trenholm Walker (SC Bar # 5777)
John P. Linton, Jr. (SC Bar # 79130)
Walker Gressette Freeman & Linton, LLC
P.O. Box 22167
Charleston, SC 29413
(843) 727-2200
Attorneys for Appellant, Road, LLC

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in holding there was insufficient evidence, even when taken in the light most favorable to Appellant, to sustain the jury's verdict of breach of contract in favor of Appellant when the evidence showed, among other things, that Beaufort County's actions frustrated the express purpose of the parties' written contract?
- II. Did the circuit court err in holding there was insufficient evidence, even when taken in the light most favorable to Appellant, to sustain the jury's award of \$5,000,000 in damages where the circuit court relied solely on an isolated answer of Appellant's expert taken out of context and ignored the other significant record evidence sustaining the amount of the award?
- III. Did the circuit court err in overturning the jury's damages verdict as "too speculative" when evidence at trial showed that the damages amount was reasonably certain and the damages were reasonably certain to be suffered as a result of Beaufort County's breach of contract?
- IV. Did the circuit court err in overturning the jury's verdict for the alternative ground that the contract at issue was a "nullity," without any supporting legal authority or evidentiary basis for this conclusion?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Road, LLC, along with Plaintiff Pinckney Point, LLC filed this action on May 21, 2013, asserting several causes of action seeking declaratory and injunctive relief against Beaufort County ("Respondent" or "County"). Road, LLC and Pinckney Point, LLC challenged the County's pending purchase of approximately 229 acres previously owned by Pinckney Point, LLC, known as Pinckney Point (the "Point Tract") that Pinckney Point, LLC intended to develop as a low density residential community. (**Compl., R. pp. 22-32**). They also sought a determination that the County's intended use of a private dirt road on land owned by Road, LLC (the "Road Parcel"), that is the sole vehicular access to the Point Tract, violated a settlement agreement they entered in 2011 with the County and other parties as well as a court order decreeing that the road was private. (**Compl. R. pp. 22-32; R. p. 492:5-6**). The Complaint also named as a defendant

Equity Resource Partners, III, LLC (“ERP”), the then-owner of the Point Tract that had recently entered a contract to sell the Point Tract to the County.

The County answered on May 31, 2013, asserting multiple defenses. (**Answer, R. pp. 33-40**). After the County acquired the development property from ERP on May 28, 2013, Road, LLC and Pinckney Point, LLC voluntarily dismissed ERP as a Defendant. See (**Def. Ex. 23, R. pp. 2102-2115**); (**Voluntary Dismissal dated 7/31/2013, R. p. 21**).

Road, LLC and Pinckney Point, LLC filed an Amended Complaint on July 25, 2014, to assert their separate damages claims against the County for breach of the 2011 settlement agreement and requesting a jury trial. (**Am. Compl., Fifth Cause of Action, R. pp. 50-52**). The County Answered the Amended Complaint on August 19, 2014, asserting multiple defenses including statute of limitations, absence of standing, and the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. (**Answer to Am. Compl., R. pp. 155-163**).

The case proceeded to trial before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Judge. The sole cause of action tried to the jury was the fifth cause of action seeking damages by both Pinckney Point, LLC and Road, LLC for breach of contract; the remaining causes of action for equitable relief were tried to the Court.

At the conclusion of the trial on May 2, 2016, the jury returned a verdict for \$5,000,000 against the County on Road, LLC’s cause of action for breach of contract. (**Verdict Form 5/2/16, R. p. 1566**). The jury ruled against Pinckney Point, LLC, returning a verdict in favor of the County on Pinckney Point, LLC’s cause of action for breach of contract. (**Verdict Form 5/2/16, R. pp. 238-248**). The circuit court did not rule on the equitable causes of action at the end of the trial and took them under advisement.

On May 12, 2016, the County filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict. **(Mot. JNOV 5/12/16, R. pp. 282-299)**. On May 26, 2016, Appellant filed its Memorandum in Opposition to the County's motion. **(Memo. Opp. Mot. JNOV 5/26/16, R. pp. 1-15)**. The circuit court held a hearing on the County's post-trial motion on August 9, 2016. Eleven months later the circuit court entered an Order granting the County's motion on July 18, 2017 (the "Order"). **(Order dated 7/18/17, R. pp. 1-15)**. Appellant timely served and filed a Notice of Appeal on August 17, 2017.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

OVERVIEW

Road, LLC appeals the Order and seeks to have this Court reinstate its jury verdict against the County for breach of contract awarding damages of \$5,000,000.

The Road Parcel, owned by Road, LLC, is a .85-acre tract on an isthmus serving as the sole vehicular access to the Point Tract, a prime, 229-acre development parcel located at the confluence of the Okatie and Colleton Rivers in Beaufort County. See **(Pls. Ex. 114, R. p. 1981)** (Aerial Photograph). This unpaved vehicular access across the Road Parcel is the final .2 mile of Pinckney Colony Road leading to the Point Tract. See **(Pls. Ex. 87, R. p. 1892)**.

Road, LLC bought the Road Parcel in 2011 as a part of a multiparty settlement that ended many years of litigation and permitting disputes related to Pinckney Point, LLC's intended development of the Point Tract. It funded the settlement by paying \$1,300,000 to acquire the Road Parcel based on assurances, conditions, and protections in the written multiparty settlement agreement (the "Settlement Agreement"). These important settlement terms included the obligation of Pinckney Point, LLC (the then-owner and intended developer of the Point Tract) to later buy the Road Parcel from Road, LLC for \$5,000,000 to obtain the fifty-foot right-of-way to

the Point Tract necessary for it to be subdivided into residential lots under the County's ordinances. Road, LLC and the other parties to the Settlement Agreement structured its terms in a manner that would require *any* future developer of the Point Tract, not just Pinckney Point, LLC, to purchase the Road Parcel for a similar amount. The County, Road, LLC, and Pinckney Point, LLC were signatories to the Settlement Agreement along with other parties.

The purpose of the Settlement Agreement was to remove the principal impediments to obtaining the necessary approvals and permits for the development of the Point Tract into residential lots and to facilitate the later sale of the Road Parcel to the residential developer. Rather than honor the purpose of the Settlement Agreement, County Council voted to enter a contract to purchase the Point Tract from ERP for a public park facility and county park headquarters as soon as Pinckney Point had to forego its contractual rights to the Point Tract for economic reasons. The County openly admits it purchased the Point Tract for the express purpose of preventing the Point Tract from ever being a residential development as contemplated by the Settlement Agreement.

Upon learning of the County's intent to acquire the Road Parcel, the attorney for Road, LLC, immediately warned the County in an in-person meeting, followed by a letter, that the Settlement Agreement prohibited the County's intended use of the Road Parcel and that its actions could violate the terms of the Settlement Agreement. Instead of refraining from the transaction, the County barreled ahead, entered a purchase contract with ERP, and then closed, all within 50 days of approving the purchase. The County proceeded even in the face of this action that was filed a week before the closing.

The County's purposeful actions to stifle the residential development of the Point Tract, which the Settlement Agreement with the County was entered to facilitate, prevented Road, LLC from ever realizing the benefit of its bargain in entering the Settlement Agreement. Evidence at

trial valued the Road Parcel as worth at least \$5 million – in its highest and best use as the sole access to the planned residential development on the Point Tract.

As described below, the evidence and law fully support the jury's verdict of \$5,000,000. The unanimous verdict of the twelve Beaufort County jurors against their County should be reinstated.

THE EVIDENCE AT TRIAL

In February 2005, Pinckney Point, LLC entered a contract with PPF, LLC, the then-owner of the Point Tract, to purchase the Point Tract, for the purpose of developing the Point Tract as an upscale, low-impact, low-density residential community of one unit per every three acres. **(R. pp. 506:6-13; 509:10-24; 867:16-24; 1046:11-19); (Pls. Ex. 84, R. pp. 1883-1891).** PPF, LLC had used the Point Tract over recent years as a sod farm. **(R. pp. 492:18-20; 867:21-24).**

Pinckney Point, LLC's troubles started soon after it entered the contract of sale. John David Pinckney, a Pinckney family member, who then owned the Road Parcel, placed fence posts across the dirt road, blocking the vehicular access to the Point Tract. In response, the County brought a lawsuit on November 22, 2005, against him and owners along the dirt road seeking a determination that the dirt road across the Road Parcel was a public road (the "Road Case"). **(R. pp. 496:15-504:25; Pls. Ex. 94, R. pp. 1933-1937).**

PPF, LLC, the seller, initially sought \$15,500,000 for the Point Tract, but ultimately reduced the purchase price by approximately \$5,000,000 because of the dispute over entitlement to use the dirt road across the Road Parcel as vehicular access for the residential development to be on the Point Tract. **(R. pp. 495:9-13; 505:21-506:2; 652:12-653:7; 691:20-24; 953:19-954:8).**

After obtaining this reduction in the purchase price, Pinckney Point, LLC closed on the purchase of the Point Tract on March 31, 2006, for \$10,600,000. **(R. p. 508:2-7); (Pls. Ex. 84, R.**

pp. 1883-1891): Pinckney Point, LLC paid \$5,700,000 of its own funds at closing towards the purchase price and funded the balance with a portion of an acquisition and development loan of approximately \$8,500,000 from BB&T. **(R. pp. 879: 25-880:13)**. After closing, Pinckney Point, LLC became a party to the Road Case. **(R. p. 505:1-5)**.

At the same time as it was litigating its right to access in the Road Case, Pinckney Point, LLC proceeded to seek all permits and approvals necessary to develop the Point Tract into 76 high end lots. **(R. pp. 510:5-6; 1047:3-21)**. Pinckney Point, LLC also became embroiled in two other lawsuits involving the County that impaired its ability to develop the Point Tract.

The two legal proceedings were (i) an appeal by Pinckney Point, LLC to the circuit court of the denial of a variance by the Beaufort County Zoning Board of Appeals (“ZBOA”) (the “Variance Appeal”) and (ii) the County’s appeal to the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) of dock permits issued by DHEC to Pinckney Point, LLC for the future lots on the Point Tract (the “Dock Appeal”).

The Variance Appeal arose in 2007 from Pinckney Point, LLC’s plan to move the driveway on the Point Tract from its existing location where it ran parallel to the marsh through more than 3483 feet of the river buffer to the family’s old homesite to a new location that would cross the river buffer for only 130 feet. **(Pls. Ex. 78, R. p. 1758)**. Pinckney Point, LLC intended to re-vegetate the existing entrance driveway in river buffer once the newly located entrance driveway was established. **(Pls. Ex. 78, R. p. 1758)**. A variance was required to allow the new location of the entrance driveway even though it would diminish the penetration of the river buffer by 95%. **(Pls. Ex. 9, R. p. 1633; Ex. 10, R. p. 1634; Ex. 78, R. p. 1758; Ex. 112, R. p. 1979 & Ex. 113, R. p. 1930)**. The ZBOA denied the variance request causing Pinckney Point, LLC to appeal the decision to the circuit court. **(R. pp. 528:21-534:20)**.

Even though the County's ZBOA had denied the variance request, the County insisted as a condition of Pinckney Point, LLC's proceeding with the development that it both obtain the variance for the installation of the utilities as well as the driveway's new location in the river buffer and obtain a 50-foot access easement across the Road Parcel to insure access *to* the Point Tract. **(R. pp. 540:21-543:10; Pls. Ex. 11, R. p. 1635; Def. Ex. 2, R. pp. 1991-1993).**

In the Dock Appeal, the County challenged Pinckney Point, LLC's dock permits. The ALC upheld the dock permits subject to certain modifications and ruled, among other things, that the County did not have standing to contest Pinckney Point, LLC's dock permits. The County appealed the ALC's ruling to the South Carolina Court of Appeals **(R. pp. 545:13-17; 546:18-547:6; 556:4-9; 584:6-19) (Pls. Ex. 14, R. pp. 1636-1646).**

Meanwhile, the trial of the Road Case occurred in 2008 before the Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master in Equity for Beaufort County. Instead of immediately ruling, Judge Dukes encouraged the parties to settle the dispute. **(R. pp. 543:11-545:10).** Pinckney Point, LLC negotiated with Agnes Pinckney, the wife and custodian of John David Pinckney, the owner of the Road Parcel, finally reaching a settlement in 2009. **(R. pp. 556:16-558:5) (Pls. Ex. 74, R. pp. 1697-1723).** Under the terms of that settlement agreement, Pinckney Point, LLC agreed to pay \$1,300,000 to John David Pinckney for a 50-foot-wide easement over the existing dirt road that would allow the residential development of the Point Tract, and made some concessions with regard to the specifics of the residential development. **(R. pp. 561:25-562:12; 558:16-23; 560:5-6; 559:21-23)** (the number of community docks in the proposed development limited to four); **(R. pp. 560:24-561:2)** (development would be a gated community); **(R. p. 561:5-9)** (no off-site gravity sewer would be utilized for the development); **(R. p. 561:10-12)** (Beaufort-Jasper to supply water); **(R. p. 561:13-19)** (storm water); **(Pls. Ex. 74, R. pp. 1697-1723).**

On August 2, 2010, Pinckney Point, LLC entered a separate settlement of the Road Action with Dorothy “Dot” Gnann, whose property abutted the Road Parcel adjacent to the Point Tract. **(Pls. Ex. 75, R. pp. 1724-1735)**. Pinckney Point, LLC agreed to pay Gnann \$215,087 in the future in exchange for 30 feet of her frontage abutting the Road Parcel. **(Pls. Ex. 75, R. pp. 1724-1735)**. Pinckney Point, LLC desired the additional land from Gnann to have more room for the widening of the new road and other improvements it planned to build over the Road Parcel, thereby avoiding having to build a bulkhead against the marsh side of the road. **(R. p. 564:3-12) (Pls. Ex. 75, R. pp. 1724-1735)**. Payment was not due Gnann until the earlier of the closing of a loan by Pinckney Point, LLC for the development of the Point Tract or four (4) years from the date of the settlement. **(Pls. Ex. 75, R. pp. 1724-1735)**. The settlement with Gnann also required Pinckney Point, LLC to locate the entrance gate so that her lot was behind it and to provide her a boat slip at the first community dock it constructed. **(Pls. Ex. 75, R. pp. 1724-1725); (R. p. 567:7-25)**.

Pinckney Point, LLC did not have \$1,300,000 on hand to fund the settlement to acquire the access easement across the Road Parcel. **(R. p. 568:16-20)**. BB&T refused to lend Pinckney Point, LLC the money to buy the easement and accomplish the settlement, forcing it to look for other sources to make the payment. **(R. pp. 654:22-655:9; 883:10-884:2)**.

Pinckney Point, LLC ultimately found an investor willing to make the payment but unwilling to make it on the terms negotiated with Agnes and David Pinckney and unwilling to secure the investment with the property of Pinckney Point, LLC in light of the risk of possible foreclosure by BB&T. **(R. p. 885:4-23)**. The investor would make the payment only if the Road Parcel was conveyed to it and if there was an array of other protective terms that included limiting the scope and width of Pinckney Point, LLC’s easement to a 20-foot unimproved dirt road so that Pinckney Point, LLC or any other developer of the Point Tract could not proceed with the

residential development of the Point Tract, which required a 50-foot improved right of way, without purchasing the Road Parcel. **(R. pp. 886:15-887:3)**. The investor created Road, LLC to make the payment and hold title to the Road Parcel until Road, LLC sold it to the developer of the Point Tract. **(R. p. 885:16-18)**.

As part of the deal structure that would assure the purchase of the Road Parcel at the time the Point Tract was developed, Road, LLC entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement for Pinckney Point, LLC to purchase the Road Parcel from Road, LLC for \$5,000,000 to assure the needed vehicular access when it was ready to proceed with the actual development. **(Def. Ex. 3, R. pp. 1994-2001); (R. p. 887:4-22)**. Road, LLC structured the transaction in this manner for it to be in an advantageous position regardless of who ultimately developed the Point Tract. **(R. pp. 888:21-889:1; 889:5-8)** (“Literally, all roads go over Road, LLC’s, property, and any acquirer of the Pinckney tract would need to purchase or acquire the right-of-way across the Road, LLC, tract.”) **(R. pp. 951:20-952:20)** (Q. “[I]t was structured such that, if you wanted to develop that property at the end of the tennis racket there, the Pinckney Point property, you would have to buy an easement or some kind of road access from Road, LLC. A. That’s correct.”). Road, LLC’s investment was premised upon the dirt road being private and the Point Tract being developed as a residential development, as stated in the Settlement Agreement. **(R. pp. 885:2-23; 888:21-889:1)**.

Because of the terms and conditions imposed by Road, LLC, Pinckney Point, LLC had to amend its settlement agreement with Agnes and John David Pinckney from specifying a 50 foot easement across the Road Parcel to requiring its outright sale. **(Pls. Ex. 76, R. pp. 1736-1744; R. pp. 582:22-583:11)**.

As a result of Road, LLC's willingness to purchase the Road Parcel on these terms and conditions, Pinckney Point, LLC, Agnes and John David Pinckney, Gnann, and the County were able to reach a global settlement to end all litigation in a manner that would allow the development to continue through the permitting process. In January of 2011, the litigants, including the County, and Road, LLC entered into the written global Settlement Agreement to end over five years of litigation. See (Pls. Ex. 78, R. pp. 1745-1795); (R. p. 1065:12-21). The County's breach of the inclusive Settlement Agreement is the basis for Road, LLC's damages claim decided by the jury. (Pls. Ex. 78, R. pp. 1745-1795).

In addition to incorporating the two separate settlements entered by Pinckney Point, LLC with Gnann and Agnes and David Pinckney, respectively, the Settlement Agreement contained the terms of the settlement between the County and all the other parties. (Pls. Ex. 78, R. pp. 1745-1795). Among other things, the Settlement Agreement provided for the resolution of the Road Case and the Variance Appeal on terms favorable to Pinckney Point, LLC and Road, LLC. Simultaneously with the execution of the Settlement Agreement, the County and Pinckney Point, LLC, also entered a separate settlement agreement resolving the Dock Appeal. That settlement included Pinckney Point, LLC's agreement to vacate the order holding the County did not have standing to challenge the dock permit, which the County had appealed and was very interested in setting aside so that it would not be prevented from challenging other dock permits in the future. (Pls. Ex. 14, R. pp. 1634-1646; Def. Ex. 5, R. pp. 2042-2085) (R. p. 668:12-25).

The intent and the effect of the Settlement Agreement were to end all litigation and allow Pinckney Point, LLC to complete the permitting process with the County for the residential development of the Point Tract. (R. pp. 571:14-16; 593:18-594:1; 594:18-24; 883:14-24) (Kunkel explaining that it would have made sense for BB&T to loan the \$1,300,000 to acquire the

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