THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001736

Road, LLC and Pinckney Point, LLC, Plaintiffs

of which Road, LLC is the..... Appellant,

v.

Beaufort County, a political subdivision of the State of
South Carolina Respondent.

RECEIVED
MAY 21 2018
SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

C. Mitchell Brown
A. Mattison Bogan
Nicholas A. Charles
Caroline D. Gimenez
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 799-2000

Robert W. Achurch, III
Mary Bass Lohr
HOWELL, GIBSON & HUGHES, P.A.
P.O. Box 40

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court properly granted the County's JNOV motion on the ground that there was no evidence the County breached the Settlement Agreement.

The central issue in this case is essentially whether the County breached the Settlement Agreement by purchasing the Point Tract, because Road, LLC's position on appeal is that by purchasing the Point Tract, the County will necessarily be converting the Road Parcel into a public road, in violation of the Settlement Agreement. Not so, as is explained below.

The express terms of the Settlement Agreement do not address ownership of the Point Tract or impose any specific type of development of the Point Tract, let alone prohibit its purchase by the County or any other individual or entity. (*See* Settlement Agreement, R. 55.) As part of the forbearance agreement in lieu of foreclosure, Pinckney Point, LLC paid \$500,000 to Equity Resource Partners for an exclusive option to repurchase the Point Tract. (Option Agreement, R. 1796; Forbearance Agreement, R. 2002; Tr. 291:2–292:11; 294:12–21, R. 590–91, 592.) Pinckney Point, LLC originally purchased the option because it could not afford to pay off its loan or complete the purchase of the Point Tract but wanted to protect its opportunity to develop the property. (*See* Tr. 294:25–295:5, R. 593–94.) Moreover, Pinckney Point, LLC was fully aware that its agreement with Equity Resource Partners provided for the extension of the option only until February 28, 2013. (Tr. 593:7–22, R. 892.) Nevertheless, Pinckney Point, LLC did not repurchase the Point Tract, nor did Road, LLC provide funds for Pinckney Point, LLC to repurchase the Point Tract, apparently gambling on its belief that Equity Resource Partners would be willing to offer it an additional extension. (Tr. 595:8–19, R. 894.) Instead, the option expired.

Road, LLC cannot blame the County for Pinckney Point, LLC's or Road, LLC's mistakes in judgment. Nor can the Court save them from poor business decisions. *See Mitchum v. Mitchum*, 183 S.C. 75, 190 S.E. 104, 113 (1937) (“It is not the business of Courts to protect parties from the

consequences of bad contracts”); *Continental Ins. Co. v. Boykin*, 25 S.C. 323, 327 (1886) (“This contract may have been an unwise and improvident one, but still the defendants made it, and as was said by Judge Hudson in his decree: ‘It being so explicit, the court is prevented from any effort to relieve the parties from the full consequences thereof.’”); *Jennings v. Teague*, 14 S.C. 229, 233 (1880) (“[T]he unwise exercise of his judgment is not sufficient authority for the court to set aside his acts”).

A. The express terms of the Settlement Agreement do not restrict the use of the Point Tract to only residential development.

Road, LLC asserts that by purchasing the Point Tract, the County breached a requirement of the Settlement Agreement that the property be used only for residential development to be developed by Pinckney Point, LLC, because its purchase would necessarily convert the Road Parcel to a public road. (App. Br. at 29, 31–32.) There is no provision in the Settlement Agreement expressly restricting the use of the Point Tract to residential development, or to one created by Pinckney Point, LLC. (*See* Settlement Agreement, R. 55; Tr. 661:1–15, 676:9–17, R. 960, 975.) Road, LLC concedes it “never argued that the written terms of the Settlement Agreement included a specific provision constituting an unconditional written guarantee by the County that the Point Tract would ‘be forever used as a residential development.’” (App. Br. at 31; *see also* App. Br. at 32 (“[T]he question is not whether the Settlement Agreement included an express covenant restricting the Point Tract to residential development.”).) Indeed, as stated in the trial court’s JNOV order, Mr. John Kunkel, a representative of Road, LLC, testified that he did not believe the Settlement Agreement required the property to only be used as a residential development. (Order p. 2, R. 2.)

In an effort to get around the lack of any express contractual term limiting the use of the Point Tract to residential development, Road, LLC relies on repeated references to the

“surrounding circumstances” when the Settlement Agreement was executed and the jury’s notes during deliberation²—to argue the parties all understood the implied terms of the contract to require that the land be used for residential purposes and that the County could not purchase the land for another use. (See App. Br. at 31–32, 34–35.) However, South Carolina courts have long prohibited extrinsic evidence from altering the express, unambiguous terms of a written contract under the parol evidence rule.³ See, e.g., *Gilliland v. Elmwood Props.*, 301 S.C. 295, 302, 391 S.E.2d 577, 581 (1990). Thus, because the County did not breach any express term of the Settlement Agreement, the trial court properly granted its motion for JNOV.

“The cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give legal effect to the parties’ intentions *as determined by the contract language.*” *Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 353 S.C. 491, 495, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003) (emphasis added). The parol evidence rule prohibits consideration of “extrinsic evidence of agreements or understandings contemporaneous with or prior to the execution of a written instrument when the extrinsic evidence is to be used to contradict, vary, or explain the written instrument.” *Rodarte v. Univ. of S.C.*, 419

² When reviewing a grant of JNOV, an appellate court is limited to considering the evidence in the record. See *RFT Mgmt. Co.*, 399 S.C. at 331–32, 732 S.E.2d at 171. Because a jury’s notes and questions to the court during their deliberation are not evidence, it is not proper to consider those in determining the propriety of the trial court’s grant of JNOV. See *id.*

³ Although the trial court originally ruled—over the County’s objection—that the Settlement Agreement contained a “latent ambiguity” and allowed the plaintiffs to present parol evidence during trial, (Tr. 67:19–68:2, R. 366–67), it ultimately—and correctly—determined there is no latent ambiguity in the contract and did not consider the parol evidence in ruling on the County’s JNOV motion. See *Ford v. State Ethics Comm’n*, 344 S.C. 642, 646, 545 S.E.2d 821, 823 (2001) (“Until written and entered, the trial judge retains discretion to change his mind and amend his oral ruling accordingly.”). Instead, the trial court considered only the unambiguous terms of the Settlement Agreement and properly ruled the contract did not restrict the use of the property to residential development. (Order p. 3, R. 3 (“Importantly, the Settlement Agreement does not bind the property to be forever used as a residential development. This is a term that Road, LLC has alleged to be a latent ambiguity. There is no reasonable reading of the terms of this agreement which would support this assertion by Road, LLC.”).)

S.C. 592, 603, 799 S.E.2d 912, 917 (2017) (quoting *Gilliland*, 301 S.C. at 302, 391 S.E.2d at 581); *see also Progressive Max Ins. Co. v. Floating Caps, Inc.*, 405 S.C. 35, 46, 747 S.E.2d 178, 184 (2013) (“Parties are governed by their outward expressions and the court is not at liberty to consider their secret intentions.”). Thus, when the terms of a contract are plain and unambiguous, “the court’s only function is to interpret [their] lawful meaning and the intent of the parties *as found within the agreement.*” *Id.* (quoting *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 568, 577, 762 S.E.2d 696, 600 (2014)); *see also Duncan v. Little*, 384 S.C. 420, 424, 682 S.E.2d 788, 790 (2009) (“Where a contract is unambiguous, the matter becomes one of law and the parties’ intent as clearly set forth in their agreement must be given effect.”). Moreover, when a contract is clear on its face it must be enforced “regardless of its wisdom or folly, apparent unreasonableness, or the parties’ failure to guard their rights carefully.” *Ellis v. Taylor*, 316 S.C. 245, 248, 449 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1994).

Further, the *express* “Complete Understanding” and “Admission of Liability” provisions of the Settlement Agreement, set forth above in the Statement of Facts, bar Road, LLC’s efforts to read into or implicate understandings and terms that do not exist expressly in the Settlement Agreement. (Settlement Agreement, R. 60–62; Tr. 589:4–22, R. 888.) It is axiomatic that supposed “implied terms” from circumstances cannot override expressly agreed upon terms by the parties to the Settlement Agreement. Thus, JNOV was correctly granted.

Although the Settlement Agreement does not expressly restrict the use of the Point Tract to residential development, Road, LLC argues the County nevertheless frustrated the purpose of the Settlement Agreement by purchasing the Point Tract (and thereby somehow converting the Road Parcel to a public road) contrary to the parties’ understanding at the time the contract was created. (App. Br. at 30–31, 34.) This is exactly the type of evidence the parol evidence rule

prohibits. *See Rodarte*, 419 S.C. at 603, 799 S.E.2d at 917 (quoting *Gilliland*, 301 S.C. at 302, 391 S.E.2d at 581) (excluding evidence of “understandings contemporaneous with or prior to the execution of a written instrument when the extrinsic evidence is to be used to contradict, vary, or explain the written instrument”). Furthermore, if the Court were to consider Road, LLC’s assertions about the “circumstances” surrounding the Settlement Agreement, it “would be tantamount to permitting a party to convert an unambiguous contract into an ambiguous one based on little more than the subjective, after-the-fact meaning one party assigns to it.” *Id.* at 604, 799 S.E.2d at 918 (internal quotations omitted). Road, LLC’s hope that the Point Tract would someday be used for residential development does not create an implied contractual term prohibiting the County from buying the land and using it for conservation, a park, or any other purpose. *See Progressive Max Ins. Co.*, 405 S.C. at 46, 747 S.E.2d at 184 (noting “the court is not at liberty to consider [the parties’] secret intentions” at the time of formation).

The County had only two express obligations under the Settlement Agreement: (1) grant a road variance for Pinckney Point, LLC and (2) agree that the Road Parcel would remain private. (*See* Settlement Agreement, R. 56–57.) Plaintiffs at trial did not present evidence that the County breached either of its obligations. (Tr. 400:22–401:10, R. 699–700.) Therefore, the record does not support Road, LLC’s claim that the County breached the Settlement Agreement, and the trial court properly granted JNOV in favor of the County.

Finally, the law regarding the frustration of purpose doctrine does not accord with Road, LLC’s arguments. Under the frustration doctrine, performance remains possible, but is excused whenever a fortuitous event supervenes to cause a failure of the consideration *or a practically total destruction of the expected value of the performance.*” 30 S.C. Jur. *Contracts* § 63 (emphasis added). Further, for the doctrine of frustration of purpose to apply, “[t]he frustration must be so

severe that it is not fairly to be regarded as within the risks that he assumed under the contract.” *Coker Int’l, Inc. v. Burlington Indus., Inc.*, 935 F.2d 267 (4th Cir. 1991) (citing Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 265, cmt. a). Here, there is no “severe” or “total destruction of value” with respect to the Settlement Agreement caused by any act of the County, and it certainly was foreseeable that the County would become a “successor” or “assign” to the Point Tract. Road, LLC cannot show frustration of purpose under the law.

B. The County has not breached the Settlement Agreement’s requirement that the Road Parcel remain private.

Road, LLC also attempts to expand the parties’ Settlement Agreement that the Road Parcel remain private to include an obligation to put up signs, close a gate, or otherwise take affirmative steps to restrict the public’s access to the road. (App. Br. at 36, 37.)⁴ However, there is no language in the Settlement Agreement requiring the owner of the Point Tract or the County in its official capacity to take affirmative steps to restrict access to the road. (*See generally* Settlement Agreement, R. 55.) There is also nothing in the Settlement Agreement requiring the Point Tract

⁴ Appellant’s additional contention that the County’s maintenance work on the Road Parcel automatically “converted it to a public road as a matter of law” is conclusory and unsupported by any authority. (App. Br. at 39.) Therefore, the argument is abandoned and unpreserved for this Court’s review. *Brouwer v. Sisters of Charity Providence Hosp.*, 409 S.C. 514, 520 n.4, 763 S.E.2d 200, 203 n.4 (2014); *Eaddy v. Smurfit-Stone Container Corp.*, 355 S.C. 154, 164, 584 S.E.2d 390, 396 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[S]hort, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not preserved for our review.”). Moreover, the Supreme Court’s opinion in *South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. South Carolina Department of Transportation*, 421 S.C. 110, 804 S.E.2d 854 (2017), which Appellant cites immediately preceding its summary contention, provides no support for Appellant’s argument that county maintenance automatically transforms private roads into public roads. In that case, the Supreme Court merely held that it was unconstitutional for a county to use public funds to inspect a private road. *See id.* at 122–24, 804 S.E.2d at 861–62. Nowhere did the court even suggest the road became public as a result of the county’s inspection. *See id.* Finally, under the “Grant of Right of Way and Easement Agreement,” attached as an exhibit to the Settlement Agreement, Pinckney Point, LLC and its “successors and assigns” are actually “responsible” for maintenance of the easement. (R. 84.)

to be developed as residential property.⁵ Indeed, the express terms of the Settlement Agreement merely provide that the parties “agree that the Road Parcel is and shall be a private road.” (Settlement Agreement at 3, R. 57.) Road, LLC bore the burden of proving the County breached its obligation to keep the road private. *See, e.g., Allegro, Inc. v. Scully*, 418 S.C. 24, 34, 791 S.E.2d 140, 145 (2016) (“In an action for breach of contract, the burden is on the plaintiff to prove the contract, its breach, and the damages caused by such breach.”). Road, LLC presented no evidence that the road is now public other than the lack of any signs or physical barriers on the Road Parcel. Therefore, the County has not breached the Settlement Agreement’s requirement that the Road Parcel remain private, and the trial court properly granted the County’s JNOV motion.⁶ *See Hutto v. Tindall*, 40 S.C.L. 396, 400, 1853 WL 2912 (Ct. App. 1853) (“Public roads of any kind, can be established only by public authority; or by dedication; or by long use, which though not strictly prescription, bears so close an analogy to it, that it may be expressed by that term. Less than twenty years’ use is insufficient to create either a public or a private road.”).

Furthermore, the Settlement Agreement provides that, unless and until Pinckney Point, LLC performs its obligation to purchase the Road Parcel or a fifty-foot right-of-way easement across it, “said Road Parcel shall be subject to an easement for access, ingress and egress over the road (20’ dirt surface) located and existing on the Road Parcel in favor of the *owners of all property*

⁵ There were no restrictions on the identity of a class of purchasers with respect to the Point Tract. Further, an individual could have purchased the tract and preserved it in its natural state. The result with respect to Road, LLC’s hopes in such an instance would have been the same. While restrictions could have been offered as to the Point Tract, none were made terms to the Settlement Agreement.

⁶ To the extent Appellant contends the trial court erred by ruling the Settlement Agreement permits public access and use of the Road Parcel, this argument mischaracterizes the trial court’s ruling. (App. Br. at 35–36.) The trial court did not find that the Settlement Agreement allows public use of the Road Parcel; rather, it simply found the County had not breached the requirement that the road remain private. (Order p. 4, R. 4.)

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